
Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - September 19, 2018

Page | 1

PUBLIC NOTICE & AGENDA
PLAN COMMISSION

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511
7:00 PM

Wednesday, September 19, 2018

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

2. MINUTES
2.a. Consideration of the Minutes of the September 5, 2018 Plan Commission meeting

Attachment

3. PUBLIC HEARINGS
3.a. Consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a drive-in use in a C-2, Neighborhood

Commercial District, for the property located at 2648 Prairie Avenue
Attachment

4. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS

5. ADJOURNMENT

** Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the
needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to request this service,
please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511.

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/241098/9-5-2018_Plan_Commission_Minutes.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/241115/9-14-18_Staff_Report.pdf


Page 1 of 3

Meeting Minutes
Beloit City Plan Commission

Wednesday, September 5, 2018 at 7:00 PM
The Forum

Beloit City Hall
100 State Street, Beloit

1. Call to Order and Roll Call
The meeting was called to order at 7:00pm. Commissioners Weeden, Johnson, Faragher,
Ruster, Finnegan, Robson and City Councilor Preuschl were present. Commissioner Haynes
was absent.

2. Approval of the Minutes of the September 5, 2018 Meeting
Commissioner Weeden moved to approve the minutes. Commissioner Finnegan seconded
the motion. The motion passed, voice vote.

3. Consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a drive-in use with alcoholic beverage
sales in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 2667 Prairie
Avenue.
Community Development Director, Julie Christensen presented the staff report and
recommendation.

Councilor Prueschl asked if the applicant had to apply for a license. Ms. Christensen
responded that if a new entity would be operating the business, a new license would be
required. Fiesta Cancun gave up their license in November, 2017. Councilor Preuschl
questioned if the conditional use they are approving tonight has any bearing on the sale of
alcohol. Ms. Christensen stated that the sale of alcohol will be done as a separate action
item through the Alcohol Beverage License Control Committee. Commissioner Faragher
states his concerns about the evidence that was provided. Ms. Christensen explained that
we recently discovered the 2009 Conditional Use Permit which allowed the alcohol use.
However, the Police Department memo mostly relates to the alcohol use. If the Plan
Commission prefers, the item can be laid over until the next meeting, and we can get an
updated report from the Police Department.

Councilor Prueschl asked about the 2009 Conditional Use Permit, specifically the condition
prohibiting the use of the drive-through. Ms. Christensen indicated that she would check
with the City Attorney and let them know at their next meeting.

2



Page 2 of 3

Melissa Plood, 7204 W Mill pond Road, representing her father Dewey Lethaby, Iva Court
Condominiums #5, mentioned some of her father’s concerns about noise, lights shining in
home, and the alcohol being sold through the drive-through.

Mark Miller, 2675 Iva Court, stated his concerns about the traffic crossing through the
parking lot, noise echoing into the neighborhood, and trash being thrown out behind the
building.

Alice Blue, 2621 Prairie Ave, owner of Badger Spirits, indicated that the City urged Ms. Blue
to not put a drive-through at her liquor store, and she feels she is put at a disadvantage if
this is approved.

Nicholas Lerma, applicant, 5008 Walnut Grove Drive, Beloit, made the argument that a
drive-through is appropriate at this location. He noted that Prairie Ave was already a main
street constructed for people to travel through the City, so it is already a busy street. Mr.
Lerma stated that the back side of the business already has plenty of trees to block lights
from shining through the condos, and the hours of business will be based on what the City
will allow them to operate.

Commissioner Robson made a motion to lay over the item. Commissioner Weeden
seconded the motion. The motion passed, voice vote.

4. Consideration of a Resolution Recommending Approval of an Update to the City’s
Comprehensive Plan
Planning and Building Services Director, Drew Pennington, presented the staff report on
the update to the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

Commissioner Johnson asked if there were any concerns raised about the proposed land
use for Kolak or any other future land uses. Mr. Pennington stated there were not any
concerns raised about Kolak, but there was a lot of discussion about Royce School and the
proposed single family use.

Commissioner Robson stated that she has received comments from the East Ridge
neighborhood regarding Morgan School, and they would like to see the zoning changed to
single family residential. Mr. Pennington stated that speaking for the Steering Committee,
they believed there were no good options for this site at this time, and it was best not to
change the future land use. Ms. Christensen explained that the Comprehensive Plan
update is not proposing to change the zoning, it is proposing changes to the future land
use. Commissioner Weeden questioned if it is a normal procedure that the zoning would
not be in an agreement with the land use plan. Ms. Christensen said we are doing a
Comprehensive Plan update first, and the rezoning would be the next step. Mr. Pennington
stated that under the Wisconsin Comprehensive Planning Law, the plan is the overriding
vision, and all land use and subdivision decisions must be consistent with the plan.
Commissioner Robson questioned if it would discourage developers who would want to
put in condos or single family because it is not zoned single family. Ms. Christensen
explained that when developers contact the City about a site, staff shares the

3



Page 3 of 3

Comprehensive Plan with the developer and lets them know the neighborhood vision for
the site as well. Mr. Pennington explained that there could be unintended consequences
to changing the zoning of Royce school to single family because if a developer wanted to
open a church or educational facilities they could not if they changed the zoning.

Commissioner Finnegan said that he was disappointed that the plan would not include any
ability for non-conforming duplexes that were constructed as duplexes to continue to be
used as they were. The Commissioners discussed the different consequences to this issue.
Ms. Christensen explained that property owners in an area could propose an R-2, Two-
family Zoning District if there were a number of duplexes, but that many neighborhoods in
the past had specifically requested to be downzoned to single family. Mr. Pennington
noted that revisiting the density issue was a large, long-term project that was too broad to
fit into the Plan Update.

Commissioner Faragher opened and closed the public hearing.

Commissioner Johnson moved to approve the Resolution recommending approval of the
Comprehensive Plan Update. Commissioner Weeden seconded the motion. The motion
passed, voice vote.

5. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items
The Conditional Use Permit (CUP) was approved for the drive-in use at 2667 Prairie Avenue
but the CUP for alcohol sales was denied. The Zoning Text Amendment to allow outdoor
vending as a temporary use in the PLI Zoning District was approved, and the Historical
Society will be holding an event on September 9, 2018 at Heritage Days.

6. Adjournment
Commissioner Robson moved to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Ruster seconded the
motion.

Meeting adjourned at 8:30pm.

Minutes respectfully submitted by Amber DesRoberts.

4



 
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: September 19, 2018 
 

Agenda Item: 3(a) File Number: CU-2018-08 

Applicant: Nicolas Lerma 
 

Owner: KHY LLC Location: 2648 Prairie Avenue 

Existing Zoning: C-2, Neighborhood 
Commercial District 

Existing Land Use: Vacant 
Commercial Building 

Parcel Size: 0.90 Acre 

  
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Nicolas Lerma has filed an application for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow a drive-through convenience store in a 
C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 2648 Prairie Ave. If the uses are approved, the City 
Council is authorized to impose conditions it deems necessary to reduce or minimize any potential adverse effects on 
surrounding properties. However, a new state law requires the decision to approve or deny a conditional use permit to be 
based on substantial evidence. In addition, any requirements or conditions established must be related to the purpose of 
the ordinance and, to the extent practicable, be measurable.  
  
Key Issues: 
1. The subject property includes a commercial building with a drive-through window and parking lot that was previously 

Fiesta Cancun. The building is 3,200 square feet in area and was constructed in 1995. 
2. If approved, customers will drive their vehicles into the Prairie Avenue access, drive behind the building, to the 

window on the south side to purchase goods.   
3. The drive-through use requires a CUP in the C-2 zoning district. 
4. A CUP to allow indoor alcohol sales in the C-2 Neighborhood Commercial District was previously approved for the site 

in 2009. The CUP from 2009 prohibits the use of the drive-through; the approval of this Conditional Use would 
override the previous 2009 resolution. 

5. According to Section 8-112 of the Zoning Ordinance, drive-through uses shall include at least 3 stacking spaces for 
the pick-up area. The subject property includes adequate stacking spaces for the drive-through. (See attached 
location & zoning map)  

6. Section 8-103 of the Zoning Ordinance specifies that sales-oriented retail sales shall provide one parking stall per 250 
square feet of building area. For a 3,200 square foot building, 13 spaces would be required. The subject property has 
at least 13 parking stalls, which exceed the minimum number required. 50 parking spaces are currently provided.  

7. A site visit was conducted to investigate screening concerns that were brought up at the previous Plan Commission 
meeting.  It was determined that adequate landscape screening is being provided to the Iva Court Condominiums but 
the waste container (dumpster) on site is not screened. (see attached photo) 

8. The application was sent to the City’s Review Agents, and the following comment was received. The Police 
Department has expressed concerns which are outlined in the Beloit Police Department memo attached to this report. 
They have concerns about the use of the property to the north as access to the subject property.  

9. The City’s other Review Agents have reviewed this application and do not have any comments or concerns. 
10. The attached Public Notice was sent to thirty three nearby property owners. Staff has not received any questions. 
11. Findings of Fact – Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a 

recommendation based on the following considerations: 
a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 
 The proposed drive-through store will operate on a site and within a building that was designed to 

accommodate drive-through traffic.  
b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for purposes already permitted; 
 The subject property is located in a busy commercial area, and any additional traffic, noise, and glare 

generated by this store is compatible with existing conditions. 
c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood of the subject property; 
  Commercial uses have occupied this site off and on since 1995. We do not believe the utilization of 

the drive-through will diminish or impair property values. 
d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly development 

and improvement of the surrounding property; 

5



 This is an urbanized area and the surrounding properties are fully developed. 
e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so 

dissimilar or otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate 
neighborhood that it will cause a depreciation in property values; 

 The applicant has not proposed any architectural changes, although if approved the applicant will 
have to submit an architectural review application for any exterior improvements, which includes 
signage. 

f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be available to 
serve the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use; 

 Adequate facilities and infrastructure are available to serve the conditional uses. 
g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and  

 Prairie Avenue is capable of handling the additional traffic that will be generated by the proposed 
drive-through use. 

h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 The conditional uses will comply with all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance. 

  
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The Comprehensive Plan recommends Planned Mixed Uses for the subject property. This proposed store and the 
underlying zoning classification are consistent with this recommendation. Consideration of this request supports City of 
Beloit Strategic Goal #3 by creating and sustaining economic growth. 
 

Staff Recommendation: 
 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a drive-through 
use in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 2648 Prairie Avenue, based on the above 
Findings of Fact and subject to the following conditions: 

1. This Conditional Use Permit (CUP) authorizes the occupancy of the existing 3,200 square-foot commercial 
building on the subject property where customers drive up to purchase goods.  

2. This Conditional Use supersedes any prior restrictions on drive-through sales that may exist.  
3. An Architectural Review Certificate must be obtained prior to making any exterior changes to the building 

including signage. 
4. All waste containers (dumpsters) must be screened from public view on all sides. 
5. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission 

and City Council by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning & Building Services may 
approve minor changes administratively. 

 
Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Site Photos, Police Department Report, Application, Neighbor Notice, Mailing List, 
and Resolution. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6



 
 

7



 

 

View from behind 
building facing west to Ivy 
Court Condominiums 

View from Prairie Street looking at 2648 
Prairie Avenue 

8



 
9



10



11



12



13



14



15



 
 

16



 
 

17



18



 
 

19


	Plan Commission Agenda
	2018-657 - Attachment
	2018-658 - Attachment

